### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Appellant,

٧.

ALEXIS ALEJANDRO FUENTES,

Respondent.

Case No. S219109 SUPREME COURT

DEC 17 2014

Frank A. Michaline Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G048563 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 13NF0928 The Honorable Nicholas S. Thompson, Judge

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision (g), eliminates a trial court's power under Penal Code section 1385, subdivision (a), to dismiss a gang enhancement alleged pursuant to Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1).

#### INTRODUCTION

The prosecutor charged defendant Alexis Alejandro Fuentes with vehicle theft and receiving stolen property and alleged Fuentes committed both crimes for the benefit of a criminal street gang. After the trial court dismissed the gang enhancement allegations, over the prosecutor's objection, Fuentes admitted the substantive charges and the trial court placed him on three years' probation. The People appealed the dismissal of the gang allegations. The Court of Appeal ruled the trial court had discretion to dismiss the gang allegations under Penal Code section 1385, because there was no clear legislative direction precluding a trial court from doing so. The Court of Appeal was mistaken.

The plain language of section 186.22, subdivision (g), which directly conflicts with section 1385, establishes that a trial court is limited to striking only the *punishment* for gang enhancements and not the gang allegations themselves. This interpretation of the law is bolstered by the legislative history of sections 186.22 and 1385. It is also consistent with the principle of statutory construction that the more specific statute, section 186.22, subdivision (g), controls over the general one, section 1385. This interpretation requires that findings be made on gang allegations and preserves true findings in order to prosecute future gang-related crimes and further the gang statute's purpose of eradicating gang crime. Accordingly,

All future undesignated code references are to the Penal Code.

this Court should adhere to the Legislature's intent and hold the discretion of a trial court is limited to striking the punishment of a gang enhancement according to the terms of section 186.22, subdivision (g).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 18, 2013, Fuentes was charged by felony complaint with unlawfully taking a vehicle (Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (a)) and receiving stolen property (§ 496d, subd. (a)). The complaint alleged these charges were committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang. (§ 186.22, subd. (b).) (CT 1-2.) On May 2, 2013, following an unrecorded chambers conference, the prosecutor objected to the trial court's indicated sentence, which provided that if Fuentes pled guilty to the charges, the court would dismiss the gang enhancement allegations pursuant to section 1385. (RT 1.) The prosecutor argued the trial court had engaged in improper judicial plea bargaining because it lacked the discretion to dismiss the gang allegations under section 1385, and was limited to striking the additional punishment for the purpose of sentencing. (RT 1-2.) The trial court explained that it had balanced the circumstances of the crimes, Fuentes' prior record, and the threat he posed to the community before choosing to exercise its discretion. (RT 2-3.) The trial court overruled the objection and granted Fuentes' motion to dismiss the gang allegations under section 1385, subdivision (a). (RT 1-3, 12-13.) Thereafter, Fuentes pled guilty to the remaining charges and was granted three years' formal probation with the condition he serve 240 days in local custody. (CT 5-14, 23; RT 10.) The Orange County District Attorney appealed the trial court's order dismissing the gang allegations. (CT 15-16; § 1238, subds. (a)(1) & (8).)

In a published decision, the Court of Appeal concluded section '186.22, subdivision (g), did not eliminate the trial court's section 1385, subdivision (a), power to dismiss or strike a section 186.22, subdivision (b), gang enhancement. (Slip Opn. at p. 2.) Specifically, the court ruled the

phrase, "notwithstanding any other law" in section 186.22, subdivision (g), was not clear direction that the Legislature intended to eliminate a trial court's authority under section 1385, subdivision (a), to dismiss a gang allegation because the statutes are not conflicting, contrary, or inconsistent. (Slip Opn. at pp. 5-8.) In this regard, the court reasoned that, because section 186.22, subdivision (g), was enacted prior to section 1385, subdivision (c), which grants discretion to strike the additional punishment in lieu of dismissing the allegation, section 186.22, subdivision (g), complemented, rather than displaced section 1385, subdivision (a). (Slip Opn. at pp. 8-9.) Thus, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order dismissing the gang enhancement allegations, but remanded the matter to permit the trial court to state its reasons for dismissing the allegations in an order entered upon the minutes. (Slip Opn. at pp. 12-13.)

On August 13, 2014, this Court granted the District Attorney's petition for review. Thereafter, the matter was transferred to the Attorney General's Office to represent the People in this Court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. SECTION 186.22, SUBDIVISION (G), GRANTING COURTS THE
DISCRETION TO DISMISS THE ADDITIONAL PUNISHMENT FOR
QUALIFIED GANG ENHANCEMENTS, ELIMINATES A TRIAL
COURT'S GENERAL DISCRETION TO DISMISS GANG
ALLEGATIONS UNDER SECTION 1385

The Legislature has provided broad authority to trial courts to dismiss actions and strike punishment under section 1385, and this discretion is retained in the absence of clear legislative direction to the contrary. The Legislature enacted section 186.22, subdivision (g), to limit judicial discretion to dismiss under section 1385 in favor of both providing stricter and longer terms for crimes committed in furtherance of a criminal street gang, and also preserving gang findings. The Legislature manifested this intent in the plain language of section 186.22, subdivision (g), which

directly conflicts with section 1385. The legislative history confirms this conflict.

When section 186.22, subdivision (g), was enacted, courts already had discretion to strike the punishments for enhancements under section 1385, subdivision (a), and former section 1170.1, subdivision (h). Therefore, section 186.22, subdivision (g), conflicts with rather than complements the authority in section 1385, subdivision (a), to dismiss actions. The subsequent addition of section 1385, subdivision (c), does not establish otherwise as this provision, which expressly authorizes a court to strike punishment for enhancements, was added to clarify existing authority. Additionally, as the more specific statute, the Legislature intended section 186.22, subdivision (g), to apply exclusively to a trial court's discretion to dismiss or strike the punishment on gang enhancements. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal's contrary interpretation leads to absurd consequences by granting courts the broad authority to dismiss, but limited authority to strike punishment. Applying section 1385 to section 186.22, subdivision (g), surplusage.

Finally, the Legislature enacted the STEP Act as a tool to eradicate gangs. A crucial part of proving gang activity is establishing the existence of a gang and its criminal activities. The true findings of gang allegations are vital to proving these components in future cases. Therefore, public policy advocates the preservation of the gang findings themselves, even if they are not used immediately to enhance a sentence. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal was incorrect in its conclusion that section 186.22, subdivision (g), does not eliminate a trial court's discretion to dismiss gang enhancements under section 1385.

## A. Statutory History of Penal Code sections 1385, 186.22, and 1170.1

Section 1385 was enacted in 1872. As relevant here, in 1988 section 1385, subdivision (a), provided, "The judge or magistrate may, either of his or her own motion or upon the application of the prosecuting attorney, and in furtherance of justice, order an action to be dismissed. The reasons for the dismissal must be set forth in an order entered upon the minutes. No dismissal shall be made for any cause which would be ground of demurrer to the accusatory pleading." Subdivision (b)<sup>2</sup> of this section stated, "This section does not authorize a judge to strike any prior conviction of a serious felony for purposes of enhancement of a sentence under Section 667."

"Section 1385 has been construed to provide judicial power to dismiss or strike -- within the court's discretion -- allegations which, if proven, would enhance punishment for alleged criminal conduct." (*People v. Tanner* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 514, 518; *People v. Burke* (1956) 47 Cal.2d 45, 50-51.) Although not expressly provided by statute, trial courts commonly struck proven prior convictions or other allegations at sentencing in the interest of justice to avoid imposing statutorily increased penalties. (*People v. Burke, supra*, 47 Cal.2d at pp. 50-51.)

In 1988, the Legislature enacted the California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act (STEP Act; § 186.20). The STEP Act included section 186.22, subdivision (b), which codifies gang enhancements for the purpose of imposing additional punishment when a felony is committed in furtherance of a criminal street gang. As discussed

In People v. Fritz (1985) 40 Cal.3d 227, the court held a trial court could strike in the furtherance of justice prior serious felony conviction allegations made under section 667, subdivision (a), which mandated a five-year enhancement for each conviction. Section 1385, subdivision (b), was added in 1986 in response to the Fritz opinion in order to withdraw the trial court's power to strike these allegations. (Stats. 1986, ch. 85, § 2.)

post, section 186.22 lists the specific punishments applied to varying base crimes. Section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), expressly addressed a trial court's discretion regarding these punishments: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the court may strike the additional punishment for the enhancements provided in this section in an unusual case where the interests of justice would best be served, if the court specifies on the record and enters into the minutes the circumstances indicating that the interests of justice would best be served by that disposition." (Stats. 1988, ch. 1242, § 1.) The following year, section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), was designated as subdivision (d), and "or refuse to impose the minimum jail sentence for misdemeanors" was added. (Stats. 1989, ch. 144, § 1.) In 1993, section 186.22, subdivision (d), was amended by removing "provision of." (Stats. 1992, ch. 611, § 3.09.) Finally, in 2001, section 186.22, subdivision (d), was designated as subdivision (g), and reads as it does today:

Notwithstanding any other law, the court may strike the additional punishment for the enhancements provided in this section or refuse to impose the minimum jail sentence for misdemeanors in an unusual case where the interests of justice would best be served, if the court specifies on the record and enters into the minutes the circumstances indicating that the interests of justice would best be served by that disposition.

(§ 186.22, subd. (g); Stats. 2001, ch. 854, § 22.)

At the time the STEP Act was enacted, former section 1170.1, subdivision (h), read as follows:

(h) Notwithstanding any other law, the court may strike the additional punishment for the enhancements provided in subdivision (c) of Section 186.10 and Sections 667.15, 667.5, 667.8, 667.83, 667.85, 12022, 12022.1, 12022.2, 12022.4, 12022.6, 12022.7, 12022.75, and 12022.9 of this code, or the enhancements provided in Section 11370.2, 11370.4, or 11379.8 of the Health and Safety Code, if it determines that there are circumstances in mitigation of the additional punishment and states on the record its reasons for striking the additional punishment.

In 1997, Sentencing Reform Bill 721 was enacted by the Legislature as the first of three steps of basic sentencing reform to simplify the Determinate Sentence Law (DSL) without significantly altering the general sentencing scheme. This included deleting former section 1170.1, subdivision (h). (Stats. 1997, ch. 750, § 9.) "In repealing subdivision (h) of Section 1170.1, which permitted the court to strike the punishment for certain listed enhancements, it is not the intent of the Legislature to alter the existing authority and discretion of the court to strike those enhancements or to strike the additional punishment for those enhancements pursuant to Section 1385, except insofar as that authority is limited by other provisions of the law." (*Ibid.*) Senate Bill 1900, the substance of which is not relevant to this matter, was the second step taken to reform the DSL. (Stats. 1998, ch. 926.)

In Assembly Bill 1808, the third and final step to sentencing reform, the Legislature found it necessary to clarify the discretion of the courts to strike the additional punishment of an enhancement by adding section 1385, subdivision (c), which provided as follows:

- (c) (1) If the court has the authority pursuant to subdivision (a) to strike or dismiss an enhancement, the court may instead strike the additional punishment for that enhancement in the furtherance of justice in compliance with subdivision (a).
- (2) This subdivision does not authorize the court to strike the additional punishment for any enhancement that cannot be stricken or dismissed pursuant to subdivision (a).

(Stats. 2000, ch. 689, § 3.)

### **B.** Principles of Statutory Construction

This Court's "role in construing a statute is to ascertain the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. [Citations.] "We consider first the words of the statute because they are generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (In re J.W. (2002) 29 Cal.4th

200, 209; People v. Gardeley (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605, 621.) "[W]e construe the words in question in context, keeping in mind the nature and obvious purpose of the statute .... We must harmonize the various parts of a statutory enactment ... by considering the particular clause or section in the context of the statutory framework as a whole." (In re Greg F. (2009) 55 Cal.4th 393, 406, quoting People v. Mendoza (2000) 23 Cal.4th 896, 907-908, internal citations and quotations omitted.) Furthermore, an interpretation that would lead to absurd results should be avoided. (People v. Jenkins (1995) 10 Cal.4th 234, 246.)

However, if the terms of a statute are unclear or ambiguous, this Court may "look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." (People v. Scott (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1415, 1421, quoting People v. Harrison (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1211, 1221–1222.) The interpretation of sections 186.22 and 1385 is subject to de novo review. (Kavanaugh v. West Sonoma County Union High School Dist. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 911, 916.)

# C. Penal Code section 1385 Grants the Trial Court Discretion to Dismiss an Enhancement Unless Clear Legislative Direction Indicates Otherwise

Section 1385 vests a trial court with the general authority to dismiss a criminal action, which includes the charges themselves and allegations. (In re Varnell (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1132, 1137.) "[T]he judicial power to reduce a defendant's sentence by striking a sentencing allegation in furtherance of justice is statutory. Because the power is statutory, the Legislature may eliminate it." (People v. Superior Court (Romero) (hereinafter People v. Romero) (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497, 518; People v. Thomas (1992) 4 Cal.4th 206, 210-211.) "This does not mean, however, that any statute defining the

punishment for a crime can be read as implicitly eliminating the court's power to impose a lesser punishment by dismissing, or by striking sentencing allegations, under section 1385. This is because the statutory power to dismiss in furtherance of justice has always coexisted with statutes defining punishment and must be reconciled with the latter." (People v. Romero, supra, 13 Cal.4th at p. 518.) A court should not interpret a statute as eliminating the court's power under section 1385 absent a clear legislative direction to that effect. (Ibid., citing People v. Rodriguez (1986) 42 Cal.3d 1005, 1019.) The trial court retains its discretion "where the Legislature has not clearly evidenced a contrary intent." (People v. Thomas, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 211, quoting People v. Williams (1981) 30 Cal.3d 470, 482.)

As the Court of Appeal below pointed out, the Legislature has directly eliminated section 1385, subdivision (a), authority to dismiss or strike an enhancement allegation in some statutory provisions with the express language, "Notwithstanding section 1385." (Slip Opn. at p. 7, citing §§ 667.61, subd. (g), 667.71, subd. (d), 12022.5, subd. (c), & 12022.53, subd. (h).) But clear legislative direction does not require that the Legislature expressly refer to section 1385 in order to preclude its operation. (*People v. Thomas, supra*, 4 Cal.4th at p. 211.) It may be evidenced by a "more specific proscription on the court's power." (*People v. Rodriguez, supra*, 42 Cal.3d at p. 1019 [Legislature's enactment of section 1203.06 disclosed an intent to preclude the exercise of discretion by a trial court from striking the use finding].) Also, clear legislative intent abrogating the trial court's authority to strike under section 1385 may exist where the invocation of section 1385 would nullify a particular result intended by a statutory scheme. (*People v. Tanner, supra*, 24 Cal.3d at p. 520.)

# D. The Statutory Language of section 186.22, subdivision (g), Provides Clear Legislative Direction that Precludes the Application of section 1385 to Gang Enhancements<sup>3</sup>

The plain language of section 186.22, subdivision (g), exhibits the Legislature's intent that judicial discretion be limited to striking or refusing to impose otherwise mandatory punishment for gang allegations. Section 186.22, subdivision (b), identifies three distinct categories of base crimes and the corresponding punishments. Section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1), is an enhancement and imposes an additional determinate term of two, three or four years, unless it is a serious or violent felony, in which a five-year or ten-year term applies. (§186.22, subd. (b)(1).) Section 186.22, subdivisions (b)(4) and (b)(5), are alternate penalty provisions providing for an indeterminate sentence and minimum 15 years imprisonment before parole eligibility. (§ 186.22, subds. (b)(4) & (5).) In addition, when the underlying offense is punishable as a felony or misdemeanor, section 186.22, subdivision (d), an alternate penalty provision imposing a minimum jail term, applies. (See *People v. Briceno* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451, 460, fn. 7.)

Section 186.22, subdivision (g), expressly grants trial courts the limited authority to strike the additional punishment for gang enhancements and the alternate penalty provision imposing a minimum jail term. It does not authorize striking the enhancement itself. The language of the statute

In People v. Venegas (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 849, the Court of Appeal held section 186.22, subdivision (g), did not provide clear language the Legislature intended to eliminate a trial court's section 1385, subdivision (a), authority to strike a section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), allegation imposing an alternate sentencing scheme. On December 10, 2014, this Court granted the Petition for review filed in People v. Venegas (CSC S221193) and deferred briefing pending the outcome of the current matter.

evidences clear legislative direction that section 1385, a conflicting and more general statute, does not apply.

## 1. Section 186.22, subdivision (g), is in conflict with section 1385, subdivisions (a) and (c)

The plain language of section 186.22, subdivision (g), expressly limits a court's authority to strike gang enhancements. As set forth earlier, section 186.22, subdivision (g), provides:

Notwithstanding any other law, the court may strike the additional punishment for the enhancements provided in this section or refuse to impose the minimum jail sentence for misdemeanors in an unusual case where the interests of justice would best be served, if the court specifies on the record and enters into the minutes the circumstances indicating that the interests of justice would best be served by that disposition.

### (Italics added.)

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