IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COPY

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Appellant,

v.

ALEXIS ALEJANDRO FUENTES,

Respondent.

No. S219109

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 1 9 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From the published opinion of the Court of Appeal Fourth District, Division Three, Case No. G048563

Orange County Superior Court Case No. 13NF0928 Honorable Nicholas S. Thompson, Judge Presiding

ORANGE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE

FRANK OSPINO
Public Defender
MARK BROWN
Assistant Public Defender
*MILES DAVID JESSUP
Senior Deputy Public Defender
State Bar No. 204030
14 Civic Center Plaza
Santa Ana, California 92701-4029

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

By 1997, however, the Legislature repealed section 1170.1 subdivision (h) on the ground that it was then considered to be redundant of the dismissal power in section 1385 subdivision (a).

In 2000, the Legislature determined that the power to strike allegations might not clearly include the power to simply strike the related punishment and therefore added the power now in section 1385 subdivision (c).

In 2011, the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division One, issued their opinion in the *Campos* case causing much mischief. (*People v. Campos* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 438 (*Campos*).) The *Campos* court erroneously held that subdivision (g) of section 186.22 replaced and crowded out all power of the courts under section 1385 with respect to gang allegations. (*Campos*, *supra*, 196 Cal.App.4th at pp. 446-454.)

The People read this opinion as prohibiting courts from dismissing gang allegations over the objection of the People, but somehow permitting courts to honor plea agreements of the People when they called for dismissal of gang allegations as part of the agreement. However, only the opposite is true: the courts cannot be so limited under the separation of powers doctrine

while the People have been disempowered to discontinue or abandon prosecution other than in compliance with section 1385 since at least 1872. (Pen. Code § 1386 [abolition of the People's power to abandon]; Cal. Const., art. III, § 3 [separation of powers doctrine].) Obviously, in the event that the courts retain the power to dismiss such allegations at all, it cannot be conditioned upon the acquiescence of the People without running afoul of the separation of powers doctrine. (*People v. Clancey* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 562, 579-580; *People v. Tenorio* (1970) 3 Cal.3d 89, 94-95.)

Under a proper reading of the laws, *Campos* was wrongly decided, trial courts retain the power under Penal Code section 1385 to dismiss any allegation under section 186.22 (and in this regard the courts are not limited by subdivision (g) of section 186.22), and the court's ability to dismiss any allegation is not dependent on acquiescence of the People.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The People's statement of the case is largely accurate with the following corrections, additions and clarifications.

Prior to the plea, the parties discussed the facts of the case and the criminal and juvenile delinquency history of Mr. Fuentes in chambers in the context of a defense request² that the court exercise its discretion pursuant to

² While there is some confusion if the defendant's role was an invitation or request that the court exercise its discretion, or a motion that it do so, this is not a material issue. (*People v. Dorsey* (1972) 28 Cal.App.3d 15, 19.)

section 1385 for dismissal; the parties had previously (April 18, 2013) discussed these same factual and background matters seeking an indication of what the court would plan to sentence Fuentes were he to plead guilty. (Reporter's Transcript [hereafter "RT"]: 1-3, 13.) The court conducted the hearing with respect to whether the court should exercise section 1385 power, and after accepting all potentially disputed factual positions of the People as true, the court dismissed the gang allegation in the interests of justice independent of and prior to any plea. (RT: 2-3.)3 It is apparent that the court had announced its likelihood to exercise its discretion though further argument on the record was invited and occurred. (RT: 1-3.) After the court had completed dismissal of the gang allegations, the court initiated questioning of Fuentes as to his plea and Fuentes did plead guilty to the remaining base charges (never admitting the gang allegations). (RT: 4-12.) The court provided terms and conditions of probation as had been indicated; Fuentes accepted those terms and conditions of probation. (RT: 4-12, Court Transcript [hereafter, "CT"]: 5-14.) The People clarified that in the previous settlement discussions in chambers they had made an offer to settle the case with nine months custody and gang terms (not specified on the record what charges to be included), contrasting where the court's previous indicated sentence was

³ The People did object to the court's indicated sentence and *claimed* that the indicated sentence included an offer that if Mr. Fuentes pled guilty the court would dismiss the gang allegations pursuant to section 1385 in exchange for that plea. (RT: 1-2.) However, the court dismissed the gang allegations before any plea commenced. (RT: 2-3.)

less time (termed "C.T.S.") but with Fuentes admitting all charges and allegations (termed "pleading to the sheet"). (RT: 12-13.) The People essentially complained that the court dismissed charges without their approval.

The remainder of the People's statement of the case is substantially accurate.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Trial courts have the power under Penal Code section 1385 to dismiss a Penal Code section 186.22 enhancement for gang-related crimes, as section 186.22 subdivision (g) expanded equitable powers of the courts with respect to gang allegations under section 186.22.

The section 1385 power of the courts to dismiss allegations in criminal cases is broad and generally reaches all variety of allegations from entire cases, to individual charges, enhancements, or prior convictions and even allegations invoking alternate sentencing schemes. (E.g., *People v. Burke* (1956) 47 Cal.App.2d 45, 50-51 [defining "striking" as "setting aside or dismissing", the court approved the power to dismiss even an admitted prior conviction for purposes of the current case only, stating that section 1385's "authority to dismiss the whole includes, of course, the power to dismiss or 'strike out' a part"]; *People v. Superior Court (Romero)* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497 [alternate sentencing scheme allegations].) However, this power is statutory in nature and it can be withheld by the Legislature in such circumstances as the Legislature mandates by clear statement to that effect. In evaluating whether

judicial dismissal power remains or has been withdrawn by the Legislature, one must confront the separation of powers issue from California Constitution Article III, section 3: if the courts do not retain the power to dismiss allegations independent of the People's request or approval, the courts do not retain that power upon the People's motion either. The People should not lightly urge withdrawal, as the People no less than the defense rely upon the court's exercise of that power to efficiently resolve cases since the 1872 abolition of *nolo prosequi*.

A. Penal Code section 1385 grants trial courts broad equitable powers to dismiss in the interests of justice entire cases, as well as individual charges, enhancements, alternate sentencing scheme allegations and prior conviction allegations, in each case unless that power has been clearly withdrawn by the Legislature in a particular circumstance.

The power of the courts to dismiss any charge or other allegation abides unless clearly eliminated by *clear* mandate of the Legislature or the electorate. The Legislature has repeatedly demonstrated the ability to clearly exclude exercise of section 1385 powers in certain circumstances, but chose not to do so here. When the Legislature adopted section 186.22 in 1988, including the language relied upon by the Attorney General here, it did so shortly after a string of cases telling the Legislature it must be clear about withdrawing 1385 powers if that is the intention. In fact the Supreme Court told the Legislature that in *People v. Williams* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 470, 489 [superseded by initiative on other ground], before reminding the Legislature

that was what they had done in *Williams*, and again using that rule to find no abrogation of section 1385 powers in *People v. Fritz* (1985) 40 Cal.3d 227, 230 [abrogated on other ground, see below]. In fact, the Legislature demonstrated the ability to follow the Court's instruction to clearly eliminate the power described in *Fritz* by adoption of Penal Code section 1385, subdivision (b) in 1986. The Legislature lacked any similar direct statement or other clarity in 1988 when it adopted the language in question as subdivision (b)(4) of the original section 186.22. While the Legislature took no action on the *Williams* decision, the 1990 electorate did in adoption of Penal Code section 1385.1 ["a judge shall not strike or dismiss any special circumstance which is admitted by a plea of guilty or nolo contendere or is found by a jury or court..."] again following the Court's direction to eliminate that application of section 1385.

The court's power to "order an action to be dismissed" under section 1385 subdivision (a) includes the power to dismiss a part of that action, such as a criminal charge, a conduct enhancement, a prior conviction enhancement, or an allegation implicating an alternative sentencing scheme. However, "[b]ecause the power is statutory, the Legislature may eliminate it." (*People v. Superior Court (Romero)* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497, 518.)

On the other hand, it has long been the openly expressed policy of the courts that "we will not interpret a statute as eliminating courts' power under section 1385 'absent a clear legislative direction to the contrary." (*Romero*,

supra, 13 Cal.4th at p. 518.) The Supreme Court told the Legislature this in 1981, then in 1985 reminded the Legislature that it:

"sent an unmistakable signal to drafters of sentencing provisions of the need to include clear language eliminating a trial court's section 1385 authority whenever such elimination is intended. Williams explains that absent a clear expression of legislative intent in this regard, a sentencing statute will not be construed to abrogate a trial court's general section 1385 power to strike."

(People v. Fritz, supra, 40 Cal.3d at p. 230, citing People v. Williams, supra, 30 Cal.3d at p. 489.) The Legislature adopted (clearly written) section 1385, subdivision (b) in 1986 in response to Fritz, and Proposition 115's Penal Code section 1385.1 in 1990 to supersede Williams. Surely the 1988 Legislature was well aware of the need to give clear guidance to the courts if it wanted (then-) section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4) to eliminate the courts' section 1385 powers. It chose to leave out any restrictive language.

This was the setting for the dawn of the era of the gang law.

The Legislature has repeatedly demonstrated its ability to clearly restrict the courts' section 1385 discretion by plainly saying so (including laws both immediately before and shortly after adoption of the gang statute) in section 1385 itself⁴ and elsewhere.⁵

⁴ E.g., in subdivisions (a) ["No dismissal shall be made for any cause which would be ground of demurrer to the accusatory pleading."], (b) ["This section does not authorize a judge to strike any prior conviction of a serious felony for purposes of enhancement of a sentence under Section 667."] and (c)(2) ["This subdivision does not authorize the court to strike the additional punishment for any enhancement that cannot be stricken or dismissed pursuant to subdivision (a)."].

The courts should be careful to not read a facial *grant* of court power too loosely to imply a *restriction* of the court's section 1385 power. For example, in *Romero*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th 497, 522-523, the Supreme Court examined then-in-effect section 667, subdivision (f).⁶ In that case, the People argued two more-means-less ("expressio unius est exclusio alterius", literally inclusion of one is exclusion of others) arguments. First the People argued that the expression of a power to the People to move to dismiss or strike an allegation under section 1385 or if there was insufficient evidence to prove it,

⁵ E.g., Penal Code §§ 667.61 [subd. (g) "Notwithstanding Section 1385 or any other provision of law, the court shall not strike any allegation, admission, or finding of any of the circumstances specified in subdivision (d) or (e) for any person who is subject to punishment under this section"], 667.71 [subd. (d) "Notwithstanding Section 1385 or any other provision of law, the court shall not strike any allegation, admission, or finding of any prior conviction specified in subdivision (c) for any person who is subject to punishment under this section"]; 12022.5 [subd. (c) "Notwithstanding Section 1385 or any other provisions of law, the court shall not strike an allegation under this section or a finding bringing a person within the provisions of this section"], 12022.53 [subd. (h), same]. Similarly, the voters know how to clearly withhold 1385 powers as they did in 1990's Proposition 115, codified in part at Penal Code section 1385.1 ["Notwithstanding Section 1385 or any other provision of law, a judge shall not strike or dismiss any special circumstance which is admitted by a plea of guilty or nolo contendere or is found by a jury or court as provided in Sections 190.1 to 190.5, inclusive."].

⁶ As of 1996, Penal Code §667, subd. (f), read in its entirety:

[&]quot;(1) Notwithstanding any other law, subdivisions (b) to (i), inclusive, shall be applied in every case in which a defendant has a prior felony conviction as defined in subdivision (d). The prosecuting attorney shall plead and prove each prior felony conviction except as provided in paragraph (2).

⁽²⁾ The prosecuting attorney may move to dismiss or strike a prior felony conviction allegation in the furtherance of justice pursuant to Section 1385, or if there is insufficient evidence to prove the prior conviction. If upon the satisfaction of the court that there is insufficient evidence to prove the prior felony conviction, the court may dismiss or strike the allegation." [Ibid.]

and allowing the court to dismiss upon finding insufficient evidence (with no mention of section 1385), the Legislature was stripping the court of section 1385 power and restricting the court's dismissals to situations of insufficient evidence. Secondly, the People argued that by so stating the rights, the court was stripped of its *sua sponte* authority to dismiss and was dependent upon the People's motion under section 1385.

The *Romero* court rejected each of these arguments. As the statute did not "impose[] a command that is necessarily inconsistent with the court's power to strike under section 1385" it was read to *not* restrict the courts' use of section 1385. (*Romero*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th at pp. 523-524.)

The Opinion of the Court of Appeal below does an excellent job of discussing the term "notwithstanding" and why its use in section 186.22 subdivision (g) is *not* inconsistent with the courts retaining section 1385 powers with respect to section 186.22 allegations. (Slip Opinion, attached to Appellant's Opening Brief on the Merits at pp. 5-9.) Supplemental to this position, it seems that no authority as of 1988 appears to have then found a section 1385 power to strike punishment⁷ without dismissing an allegation.

⁷ Indeed, the courts had specified that 1385 powers were *dismissal* powers not mentioning waivers of sentence alone. (*People v. Burke, supra*, 47 Cal.2d at pp. 50-51 [defining "striking" as "setting aside or dismissing" an allegation].) The *Burke* court contrasted its situation with that in *People v. Superior Court* (1927) 202 Cal. 165, 173, where the court improperly refused to sentence death on first degree murder, instead pronounced judgment of second degree murder and sentenced thereon. See further discussion of this

While the courts may find clear indication of the Legislature's intent to withdraw section 1385 power where another provision is clearly inconsistent with the exercise of that power, such is not the case here. There is nothing inconsistent with the dual exercise of powers under section 1385 subdivision (a) and under section 186.22 subdivision (g). Indeed these statutes had no redundancy supported by published authority at the time of adoption of the gang statute, as section 1385 had no provision to withhold sentence without dismissal of an allegation and there was no language purporting to tie the courts' hands anywhere in section 186.228. The addition of the court's power to deviate downward from certain otherwise "minimum" section 186.22 sentences further differentiated, and in no way conflicted with, section 1385.

Lacking any express refutation of section 1385 power, and lacking any clear limitation on the court's discretion which would be compromised by use of the section 1385 power, there is no conflict with section 186.22. This conclusion is only enhanced by the novelty of the powers granted in section

topic, including concurrent and expressed parallel authorization to strike punishment in section 1170.1, in legislative history section below.

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